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TALK WITH PRESIDENT JOHNSON 

DATE: August 12, 1969 
PLACE: LBJ Ranch 
Present: President Johnson 

William J. Jorden 

SUBJECT: Viet-Nam 

0Q. When were you first aware of Viet-Nam as a problem area. for the 
United States: 

President: It was most vividly brought to my attention by the 
conference Secretary Dulles had with the leadership of the Senate in... 
I believe it was '54 when Nixon announced during that period that we 
would be p:itting troops in that area of the world, and Dulles consulted 
us about supporting the French following the fall of Dien Bien Phu. and 
a.s Senate leader I raised some questions with Secretary Dulles the 
principal o:ie of which ·was who would go in with us. And as I recall 
it, he s<1.-id that he was not very posi.tive wh,:i,t other forces in the world 
would join with us. And the tneeting -ended with his agreeing to exchange 
views with ot:.her nations. And fo1lowing that Sen;lte meeting, though, I 
think that ht! and President .Eisenl1ower conclu<l,:::d thr1t there was enO",t(fh

0 

resisL1.nce in tht~ Congress, even t~io~tgh Nixon had alr1~r1.<ly announced 
on beh,tlf of the Administration they were taking that action that they 
pulled away from it. You'll have to get the ex;,.ct elate of that conference. 
It's a. ma.tter of record and there's been a good deal written about it, I 
think, in various books. I took the very strong position that we were 
certainly intere,;ted in that part of the world and we wanted to do what­
ever was appropriate, and required, and desirable, but it was also... 
we didn't want any unilateral undertaking and that we Octght to consult 
with our allies and see which ones of them were ready to go in with us 
a:.1d after those consultations the Administration did not make any recom­
mendation that we do that. And so the result. . . the next real recommen­
dation of the Administration was really when President Eisenhower told 
Presidc:nt Kennedy he felt the first action we would have to take would be 
in that area -- Laos, and Viet-Nam -- and that he would have taken it 
ex.ct!pt th,":lt he did not want to ma.kc commitrnents that another President 
woul,I have to honor. And so he left it so the President could take what 
action he thought he ought to take (President I<ennedy), but that he (Presi­
dent E:isenhower) felt that action would have to be t;1ken. 

1

• 
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Q. What was your involvement as a Senator in the SEATO Treaty 
deliberations? Did you have any opinion of SEATO at that time? 

President: I was not present when the SEATO Treaty was voted upon. 
I was in Mayo Hospital. Senator Kennedy was not present -- Senator John 
Kennedy. Senator Dirksen was not. I think all three of us were sick at 
the time that the treaty was ratified 82-1, with only one vote against it 
Senator Langer from North Dakota. Senator Mansfield went out to 
Manila and signed as one of the representatives of the United States. 
Senator Mansfield explained the Treaty as did other Senators on the 
Foreign Relations Committee, discussed it rather ful1y. We were familiar 
with its terms. I did not vote on the question. I believe, though, had I 
been there anti had I heard all the deha.te, including the reasons set forth 
by Secretary Dulles and through sending it to the Foreign Relations 
Committee, anti Senator Man:sfield, an<! Morse and Fulbright and others 
who were responsible for it being before the Senate, I would have voted 
as they did -- for it. Although I did not vole, for it and I did not make the 
cornrnitn1ent beca.use I was s.ick and not present, I did feel that once we 

macho the commitment that it ought to be carried out. And I reganled it 
as p:irt of o,1r commitment in tlut p,,rt of the world, alt:hough I fdt a. 

good rn«ny times that other p<<op]e did not live up t:o its terms. The fact 
that another man viola.teR a contract iH no reason why I shouldn't abide 
by my cr,.-,n, 

Q. Did you rna.ke any Senate speeches or otht-!r public statements on 
SEATO in 1954-55? 

PreHident: I did not make any Senate speeches or public statements 
on· SE:/\TO because, as I said, I was not present during that period. I'd 
been ope rated on at Mayo's Hospit.\l. 

Mr, Jorden: That was early' 55, yes. Well, as a result of the French 
pulling out, we moved in and began to help train the Sonlh Vietnamese Army. 
Do you think tha.t our training of that army for traditio11,1l war in the 1950's 
was a major blunder? 

President: Well, I think in retrospect we could improve on a good many 
step,i that we took in that period. I don't think that we have ever received 
from the South Vietn«mese them selves all that we had a right to expect, 
and all that we desired. We had to consider wfu.t we had to work with and 
do th;, hest we could. And I'm su,·e that our efforts could have been im­
prov.,cl. 
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Mr. Jorden: What I was thinking there was that it didn't seem very 
likely that armies were going to march south but that they were going to 
face a guerrilla war and they weren't re;dly trained for guerrilla war. 

President: r think that's rig,ht and I think that President Kennedy
ea!i,v1 -

realized very H1 his administration and he discussed it with me, and he 

was reading everything that he could find on the subject of guerrilla war­
fare and was organizing the Green Berets and everything else that was 
calculated to give ocir troops a new ... expertise in that general field, 
and make them ready and prepa reel to dead with it. Although I've never 
been sure that we've actually cope:d with it a,; successfully as we should 
have. And I'm positive that if we had it to do over again that maybe we 
would have given them different typs,s of training for a different typ,o of 
situation. 

But I was not responsible for the quality of training or the type of 
training that the South Vietn,1.rnese received in thr-! 50' s, or even our 
own people, and I've pretty well bef~n guided in rny judf~rnents by the 
recornrnen,J;ttions made by our people. I know th;d: President Kennedy 
was quih! conccrn~d when he c>:Ln1e in t:ha.t we ourselve:.~ "vere not pre­
pared to cope with this guerrill;1 typ'! war£a.rf~ arnl ht: '""anted to equip 
us for tha.t a.B quickly as possible .. And of cours'.'.~ we 1:eied as best we 
could to equip tlw South Vietnccmese for it. But with the challenges that 
were r;dsP.d out the 1·e and starting frotn where Wt! .started with modern 
riflea a.ml things of that kind, we had to supply 01tr own men as quickly 
as we could. And consiclering the fact that we h;tC! to meet those demands, 
we have equipped them as quickly as we could within the support the 
people g;,ve us anrl within the tim" we had. And one of the high priorities 
I gave as President was to give the South Vietnamese better guns, and 
better training in that pa1·ticular area, I would not say that..• I'm not 
competent to s-1.y it's a major blunder, but I would say that we could all 
do better in retrospect. 

My '61 visit to Saigon was my first trip to Viet-Nam. 

Q. Why did President Kennedy send yoc? 

Pr.,,iident:; I do not know why President Kennedy sent me. I think you 
ought to go back, and I'm sure he sent a h,tter to Diem that I presentPd. 
And l'n1 !-1u·re he gave ff1~ a letter, and n1aybe a ch;·trter, and: you ought 
to review those. I don't remember the <letailr,; I know that he wanted me 
to go and it wan early in the Ar.l,ninist:rati.on a.nd it wan an important assign­
ment. And he felt from what President Eisenhower hz«l told him that this 
was one of his big problems he h,vl to face up to 90011. 

l 
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0. What were your impressions on that trip? Did you feel Viet-Nam 
was vital to the United States? 

President: My impressions on that trip were incorporated in the 

report, the written report that I ma.de to him. They' re also incorporated 
in testimony I gave before the Senate Foreign Relations. I met with them 
when I came back. ,\nd I think that the net effect of what I said was that 
we must support these p-eople and strengthen them in every way we can, 
we must encourage them and stimulate them to resist this communist 
aggression. And they said they' 11 be able to do it without our help; they 
don't want our boys. But they do need all the fina.ncial and military 
help we can give them to equip them. That was about the net of it. 

0. What are your recollections of Diem? You have been quoted as 
describing him as the "George Washington of Asia"? Wasn't that an 
exaggercLtion? 

President: What are my recollectiong of Diem? I had a fine visit 
with him and I thought a productive and profit:tble one. I thought that 
he... v.:•e stressed, according to rny instructions fron1 the President 
and tht~ .Secretary of State a.nd others, the importance of social reforms, 
the irnportance of mrtking hi::,; governrnP.nt rnor~ r~:sponsi.ve to all the 
p.,opl,,. And such things as land reform. He wa,; not irritated by this, 
although l'rn Sl.lt"e every visitor hi, got from the United States during that 
period w;,s trying to point t}ut out. I tried to combine not only our recom­
mend~tions and ou.r advice on the necessity for making his government rnore 
democratic and more socially conscious, I tried to couple that with 
stimubting him to believe that he could resist the aggression that he was 
fac·ed with, and the great power -- communist power -- that was being put 
against him by Russia and China. and the North Vietnamese. I thought he 
needed that encouragement so I frequently pointed out that when another 
great power -- not China, not Russia and not North Viet-Nam -- with a 
joint effort to communist adva.nce and aggression, but when we had a 
fa.sci8tn advance and aggression, a. great many people started by corn­
promising and by trying to rneclhte the situation. And Chamberlin came 
back and thought he had obtained peace in our time, but it remained for 
Chuc-chill -- who had warned all thrcmgh the years of these great dangers 
and tfrn necessity for being enuippecl to deal with, and his advice ha.cl not 
been taken - - hacl to rise to the occasion, and even after the Batt]-, of 
Britain to stand there and provide the inspiration and courage to keep his 
peoph, in the war after France had gone under and the Maginot Line had 
failed, and it looked like Hitler wa8 in for a great victory in Europe. 

• 
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It was al most Churchill's vmce alon,a that maintained the resistance 

and that held the line until we could go into Normandy and we could equip 

our people and theirs to successfully resist this aggression, I pointed 

out all this in all my speeches to the Vietnamese, to the Congress, in 

the social meetings I had, th:- governmental meetings I had, and the 
public speeches I had, and the luncheons that I attended. And I fre­
quently said, referred to a story as I do now, the Churchill story __ 

it may never have happened; I don't know, it was j,1st a story of the 
time -- that we have ... so little hc1ve we clone, so much have we yet 

to do. That's one of my favorite Churchill stories. And during this 
period I frequently referred to the fact that Churchill standing alone, 
after the Battle of Britain and after France had fallen, and after it looked 
1 ike fascism was in the ascemlency •·- that Churchill almost by himself 
had provided the courage and the resistance that stopped Hitler. And 
that I thought that Diem was confronte<l \.vith a sirnilcvr LJituation -- that 
the advance in that area of the world was going to require some strong 
person to do what Chllrchill did. And he said th,-t wc: 1 11 meet them on the 

beaches am! we'll meet them in the alley,; ,-nd we'll meet them in the 
stre<et,;, and if everything else fail,;, before, we'll let f,1.scism succeed, 
we'll tl~:H'~ onr beer bottles on tl1ern. l\ncl I pointed Otll tha.t story to Diem, 
and S].id, so yon're going to have t:n n1ct:t th~tn in the huuhes, and you're 
going to lia.ve to meet thern in the rnountains, and you 1 re going to have to 
meet thf-Tn in the forests, ancl if everything eli>e r~i.ils, you' re going to 
have to be like Clrnrchill - - you' re going to h,1.ve to use your beer bottles 
on thern. Because we cannot }f~t cornmunisn1 ta.ke Inda China, or take this 
area of the world. 'Ne cannot let it take South Viet-Nam, because it'll be 
in Thailand, it'll be in Indonesia, and it'll take ,-11 th,e rest of the area, 

and be b,,ck to Honolulu. Now, the New York Times in typical fashion, 
and other,; of liberal tendencies who disapprove,<! of Diem, who didn't object 

to the. aggression, who didn't care about it being taken over, immediately 

said that Johnson has called Diem the Churchill of Asia. -- not the George 
Washington, but the Churchill of A:i ia. Which I did not. I said that Diem 
will have to rise to the occasion and provide the same typ"' of leadership, 
the same quality of leadership that Churchill did when he was confronted 
with a similar problem when fascism waB on the march. It didn't make 
any diffr~ re nee whether it wan a L.1..scist aggressor or a cotnmunist aggressor. 
Th")' c.u1 be stnpp"d, they m11st he stopped, they ought to be stopped. 
Churchill stopped them, '10 you ought to do the ,;ame thing. And that WiLS 

the couunent that... there wa.s a Hohert Tr1.ln1hnll an<l a fellow named 
Tiern,1.n or aornething: out there in that area. of the ,vorld -- I forgot ·what 
his n;rn,e is, but both of them seemed to be very sympathetic to the aggres­
sor~. Ami both of them seemed to resent that the American Vice President 

I l 
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would try to say that you p~ople have got to stand up here and show 

some steel, not be the Chamberlins of your time but the Churchills of 

your time. And that was my thought and that was what I said. And 

And just like Life magazine this week
that's what it will show I said. 

says that I showed up in Viet-Nam in a cowboy uniform. Well, I showed 

up in this exact shirt, and this is made by a military tailor and it's a 

military uniform, and it's a Westmoreland collar and £':'s the same kind 

he was wearing, and the same texture and the same quality. And it has 

But the fact they say it a dozen
nothing in connection with a cowboy. 

times and the New York Times and Life magazine write it, pretty soon 

you have great big boots on, and spurs, and six shooters, and so on, 

And I don't know how you can correct those things. And I
and so on. 
never have known how to correct this, but I told you exactly what we 

I do think that one of the greatest mistakes this coun­
said a.bout Diem. 

try ever made was when we encouraged the South Vietnamese to assassi­

I think it was a mistake we ma.de in the Do:ninican
nate this President. 

I never approved of a lot of Diem's methods and certainly a
Republic. 
great many of his brother's were as reprehensible as a lot of other 

But the fact that they were reprehensible and there
brothers' actions. 

was some corruption in the government -- and it wasn't as democratic 

as we thought it ought to be, in either Viet-Nam or the Dominican Repu­

blic -- that we were in no way justified in urging people to assassinate 

them. And I strongly resisted it, and if I had had my way, it would 

never have happened. But I was not in a decision making posture at that 

time. But I have expressed myself every opportunity I've had. I think 

we did press li:n as hard as we dared to for internal reform, for broader 

But it's just a question of
political involvement, and for a better army. 

what you can do with a situation like that. 

Did you take an active pa.rt in deliberations on Viet-Nam at the end
Q. 

of 1961, at the time of the Taylor Mission? Was JFK keeping you in­

formed? Did he seek your advice? 

President: No. Taylor and Rostow went out and ma.de their report 

and I was familiar with it but I was not consulted about their going, and it 

was not a matter of decision for me. And my report had already been 

made and in a general way I was informed, but not specifically and not 

requested to make a decision or make a recommendation. 

O. Did you have any involvement in V-N question in 1962-63? 

President: In general discussions and evaluations, the Taylor Report, 

and discussions of the whole Laotian situation. in that period there. as a 

general meeting, but not specifically where I did any more than I did on 
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that trip. I sat in on Security Council meetings, rather seldom made 
an observation unless I - - ha.d a gene rr:tl policy of never speaking unless 
I '-'i.'as spoken to and never made a recon1rnendation unless the President 
asked me, and never differing with him in pciblic. Frequently he and I 

would talk and I would say, we have this difference and here is my view­
point. But I never thought it would be appropriate or desirable to debate 
differences of opinion in open meeting with others. I thought it would be 
unproductive for the Vice President and President to do it. I raised that 
question on the Bay of Pigs and the President got very -- I questioned 
that the Joint Chiefs of Staff hcid recommended some of the things that . 
they'd been quoted as recommending, because thc,y'rl told me otherwise. 
And when I asked a question in open n1eeting, the President showed some 
irritation and said of course they had, and one of the members of the 
Joint Chiefs sitting right next to me ha.d just told me before we went into 
the meeting that they hadn't. So I tuened to him ancl ciai<l well, I must 
be misinforrned, and so he kind of wobbled arouncl. It \VriS an emharra.ssing 
situation so I tried to make it a policy not to. I don't recall any substantial 
differences that I expressed to th,, Presi,lent on Viet N0tm. I know that I 
felt that the wire th,1,.t I-filsrn,=tll ~•ent out ·wa.s a very unwi!1e thing and very 
unde~it·tdJle. An<l both Rusk a.n<l NlcNc1rr1ara. were out of town, and Hilsma.n 
wanted to instruct Lodge to go along with the overthrow of Diem. And he 
took it up with the Pre!3ident who wa::i ;d: I-Iya.JJni~;port arnl that wire \vas 
cleared. An<l after he got ha.ck to .t.own I knrrw there wan .::1. genera.l feeling 
around that we h:ld actecl unwisely nu I-{il~11na.n1S irnpeblOllsity and the 
Presilh~nt' s approving what he ha<l done. To f.:iend the \Vire was a very 

dangeTous thing to do. 

A.n<l subsequently I heard Hilsrnctn all over town blaming the Se,cretary 
of State, the President ;ind everybody else for what was happening in Viet­
Nam. And I told some of my ctssociates in th-, administration-·- I don't 
remember whether I told the President directly or not -- I tried to tell the 
people th«t I thought would get to him and I don't remember just what channel 
I used. But I thought it was outrageous. I w«s at a dinner party at Bill 
1,Vhite' s hou8e and I-Iil::in1an was just outright disloyal, not only to the 
Secr.,tary- of Stat" arnl the President and all of them, bnt just an anarchist 
who W'ilt~ fouling hi~ o-»n ne~t. .And when I becarne Pres.ident, the first man 
I instr11c:ted to he fire,! w;.s Hil,m,;u1 in that pl.tee, ;inrl I a:iked McNamara 
to h,nd tnf! Bill Dundy to bring over to put in th;ct job. He didn't resign --
I told Hu<1k he w,rn outright disloyal. I'cl heard him at this dinner party 
with a. hnnch of new!'j,papern1en, just: telling wh~i.t fH:rious mistakes the 
Pre:~idf:nt ha.d m,i.de, and so on and so forth. Antl it rnade me think he was 
workin;( for the enemy. I rather folt he wac, an employee of the enemy 
bcc;Lu~H! . .. 
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Mr. Jorden: Well, you got rid of him pretty quickly? 

President: Yes, sir, just as soon as I could. It took three-four 

mont.'1s, but it was one of the first things I did. 

).1r. Jorden: It seems to me that Harriman was also involved in that 

Hilsman message? 

President: I don't know but..• 

Mr. Jorden: But as you say, the Secretary of State was out of 

town at the time, and... 

President: The Secretary of State was out and the Secretary of 

Deiense, too. I think Hilsman was the author of it. 

Q. Did you agree with the decision to put pressure on Diem in 1 63? 

Were you consulted? 

President: No. I didn't agree with it. I thought it was very unwise. 

And I was not consulted. 

Q. Was our policy toward Diem wrong? What would you have done? 

President: Was our policy toward Diem wrong? I think it was to 

assassinate him. I d~n•t think it was to try to bring him along as fast as 

we could. I don't know d1at I would have done. I would have done with 

him just what I tried to do with Thieu -- get him to get a constitution and 

democratic government and have some land reform, improve his army and 

do as good as we can. I think there's an extent to what you can do. You 

can't change a situation overnight. It takes a long, trying time. You've 

got to be patient and do as much as you can as fast as you can. I don't 

think we have done as well as we could and I don't think we did it as fast 

as we could, But with governments changing as often as they did out there, 

we did it as fast as we dared to. 

Q. What was your reaction to the McNamara-Taylor o;,timism of 1963? 

What do you think in retrospect? 

President: I think that the optimism was greatly exaggerated. And I 

have read the McNamara statement and, as I recall, he put several con­

di tions on it. He expected that if there was no change of government, and 
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if there was no infiltration from the North, and if about five differentother things, then we could hope to be Oltt of there by '65. But theyalready -- the press -- dropp-ed all the ifs. and just said that McNamarapredicted the war was going to be over, which I did not think was aproper evaluation of his statement. I was not consulted about it; Ididn't know he had made it. ltI just looked at/after it was made and Ithought he'd been treated unjustly. Just like I think I've been treatedunjustly by saying that we' re not going to do the fighting, that the Asiansought to do for themselves. That doesn't mean we're not going to fight";we' re going to fight like hell right alongside of them. As I've said timeand time again, that we're going to keep our guard up all the way, pro­tecting ourselves every minute. But our hand out trying to get peace.But that doesn't mean that we' re going in and run them out and say,South Viet- Nam, we' re going to take you over, and we' re going to be acolonialist and do all your fighting for you. As long as you'll stand upand do your pa.rt, we'll stand right by you. Now tint's what I intendedto s~y: th«t's what I thought I'd said; that's what I believe I said: that'sv·hat I mc,ant. And then to "!have thern pick half a sentence out of anexternporant~ous speech and say I 0a.id that I wa~-, going to bring pea.ce tothat a.re,1.. And I r.-1.n on a. peace ca.rnp<tign. And I wa.s <l peacemaker.Of course I want pe«ce. I want peace every hour. But I didn't want itany more in 164 than I did in 16fl arnl l doubt: if I w,1111:erl it as much. 

Q. ,Vas over-optimism a chronic wi!akness of the U.S. in the 1962-64period? How about later? 

·President: No, I don't think it has been. I think that our people liketo find a scapegoat and I think they want to go back and take a littlerep;,d that McNamara made that if everything went along as he had pre­dicted and hoped it would go, that he thought this would be possible. Idon't think it's over optimistic. I think it's re;,.listic and I think that if •there had been no infiltration and if there had been no change in thegovernment, and there had been no «ssassination, -- we had to pick upand sL,rt all over after that. 

Mr..Torden: Wasn't there a little feeling, though, Mr. President,at lea~1t later on, when various recorntnendations \vere n1ade, that i.f we'djust do this or d<l that, that it will be the thing that will turn the corneror make the difference? 

Prr.si<frnt: Well, I think a lot of people, in support of their recommenda­tion for everything. aay, "this is what needs to be done to get the job done."And I th,•1k in that resp.,ct we always ha.cl optimism, and I think you've gotto have it. You c«n't just say you're going to be defeated. If you do,you' 11 b,, a victim of your own•• , 

• 
- -------·-- "-·- -·- -·""____ --" ---
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Mr. Jorden: And you end up doing nothing. 

President: That's right. Do you feel now that you were getting 
all the facts with the bark off? I don't think anybody ever deliberately 
deceived me and I don't think anybody ever presented to me false infor­

mation. And I don't think anybody ever made a recommendation to me that 

they did not believe was based on the best facts that they had available and 
the best judgment that they could make. I ha.ve no scapegoats, 

0. Did you find any surprises when you got into the Viet-Nam question 
after assuming the presidency? What were they? 

President: Yes. I was surprised that the p-ersonnel out there was 
not better coordinated and was not working together, and there was as 
much dissensio:-i as there was, between I[arkin,i and the CIA, and the 
AID people and the Ambassador, aml othe,rs. And I thonght that we made 
a mistake in removing our Amba.ssa.<lor out there. I-Iis name is a German 
name - - I thought he was a very good man. But he wasn't a Charles River 
man ::ind he wasn't a fellow who would give up his conviction to satisfy 
Ha.lbt~r.-Jti'lrn. 

Mr. Jorden: That wets Fritz Nolting,'\) 

F-'reriident: My irnpression 'waS thd.t he W<i5 t:reatetl unjustly and 
unfairly, And rny irnpression was his judgrnent: was goo<l and I thought 
the ne wa,i a lot of dissension and when they removed him I tried to start 
with an entirely new l:tectm. I asked CIA to send the best man they could. 
I had Lorlge there and I asked Lodge what he wanted and put in charge 
and' I gave him what he asked for. We brought Harkins out and put 
Westmorel.,nd in. We told them to get the best man they had -- three of 
them about the same: Westmoreland, General Johnson, the Chief of 
Staff, and General Abrams. And they felt that Westmoreland would be 
the best man for it ·.and that's who we sent. 

Q. In retrospect, which of your adviser's counsel was the soundest -­
day in and d,~y out - - on Viet--Narn? Whose was the worst? 

President: I never did feel like I hacl any worst. I never did divide 
it up. I ha.,\ great re;;pect for Rusk1 s.jmlgment and his evaluations and his 
dern~:1.nor a.nil hi~1 n)aru1P.r of presenting things. an<l his unselfishness, as 
I di(l for !V(cNa.n1ara.. No one was ever nlo1·e respected than Rusk was, 
and no one wa.a ever supported any stronge_r than McNa.rnara was, a.t the 
time they were there. I don't know what wort1t advice I got, if any. 
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Q. Did you :rna z.ny surprises when you got into the Viet-Nam questiona.:ter assuming the presidency? What were they? 

?resident: I just told you about the personnel. We've completelych=.r.;ed that. I ciid not realize that we were going to assassinate Diem.;,r.c. I c::ici not -- it was a surprise to me that we had so much difficultyge::ing a govern:nent to replace him. We had the Khanh government,and ;our or five in between, until we finally got Thieu with some stability.And ::.at ,•:as a surprise, Because I believe had Diem lived and directedthe thing, th;;,,t he would have had a force strong enough to have done muchbetter than we did du ring the period '64-' 65. 

Q. In 1964 what was your biggest worry about Viet-Nam? 

President: Th.,,t was that we couldn't get a stable government, thatwe !,ad made a serious mistake in assassinating Diem., or encouragingit or a.llowing it to be done while we turned our back And I really thinkwe c:d more than that. And I was constantly fearful that we could notgc: Xorth Viet Xam to hear us and we could not get the Soviets or theCh::-.esc to do anything to mediate or conciliate and, as a conseauenceI,, ;.s very fearful that we would become more involved all along. Andfro::-i November 1963 really until July 1965 I did everything -- notwith­standing the fact that I had the Tonkin Gulf Resolution that authorized meto :aKc whatever steps necessary to deter aggression -- I did everythingI codd to avoid taking any steps that would escalate our commitment.:a•.,: I iinal!y came to the conclusion that all of my advisers reached, namelytiut ..,,e either had to run or to put extra men in to protect them. And I wasnot p~eparcd - either way I went it was a terrible situation. I knew that ifI r.;,n out that I'd be the first American President to ignore our commitments,turr. tail ar.d run, and leave our allies in the lurch, after all the commitmentsEiseni1ower had made, and all that SEATO had made, and all that theCo::6 ress had made, and all that the Tonkin Gulf said, and all the statementsthat Ken:1edy had made, and Bobby Kennedy had made, and that everybodyhc.d made, I'd be the first American President to put my tail between myle~s and run out because I didn't have the courage to stand up and supporta tr,:,aty and support the policy of two other Presidents. On the other hand;I c:i:dn't want to increase our commitments and I didn t want to escalatefoe:-r:i. So the :.esult was that from November 1 63 until July 1 65 I dideve~ything I could to avoid the commitment that ultimately I had to makeei foe r run or stand. And I chose to stand. 

DECLASSIFIED
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0. \'l),I h,LVt! been accused of 1nislc;.1c..ling the P'-'.ople with statements 
duri.ng th1.'. ca.rnpa.ign -- "we art nol going North", ''we a re not going to 
send American boys to do the job of Asian boys," etc. What is your 
reaction? 

President: We may have made a mistake by saying we had no intention, 

no plans, or no program to invade North Viet- Nam. I was trying to do 

that to show the Soviets and to show the Chinese and to show the North 

Vietnamese that we did not want to change the government in North Viet­

Nam, that we just wanted to dett,r aggression in South Viet-Nam, and that 

we were not going North. And I never had any intention of doing it. I had 
a suggestion that we invade Nocth, and norm;:Llly wh~n you're at war. you 
do whatever you need to do to win the war. And we were charged with 

a no-win policy hr a lot of oar critics because we really said we were 

not going North a.nd were not going to inv.:tde then1. But we planned to 
do that to deter them and to assuage them and to keep them fro:n gobbling 

up South Viet-Nam out of fear tlut if they didn't, w<e were going to destroy 

them. I meant to sa.y, the policy that I adopted in my own mind all the 

way through was a ha.lanced policy. \Ve hc_ul no designs on changing their 

governrnent. We fficl no dP.sire to nverrun their co1tntry. We had no 

desirP to make thern a puppet or s;d:ellite of otirs. VVf:', just did not want 

thern to corne in to Sonth Viet f\f;trn a.nd tak<'~ 0·1e r· this little nation by 
force of ,1.rrns. And we felt like t+~:i.t w~ h,td ;J. ge1H:'.r;d commitment in the 

world to resist aggression, as we .res·istt--:cl in E,n·ope and we wer~ resist­

ing it the.re. Anrl we did everything we cotdd to t..dk tlH:rn out of aggression. 

And to t.llk the Sovieb and the Chirn,se and everyone else out of supporting 

thern. And we, tried to do it by assuring them that we were not going to 

invade the North and we also tried to assure them that \Ve weren't going 

to ~orne in there and just make war on then, by ourselves; we weren't 

going to do the fighting that the Asians ought to do to protect themselves. 

But that didn"t mean we weren't going to fight and support them. 

Mr. Jorden: Well, I think what some people did was just deliberately 

take out of context what you said and when the bombing of the North sta·rted, 

they r;,laterl it to yotH sta.ternent tha.t we weren't going to go North. What 

you were talking a.bout waH an .inva~1ion of North Viet- N.a.n1. 

P ref!ident: That'" right. 

Q. w·f'! re yon seriously concerned about Goldwatt~r• s using nuclear weapons 
in Viet- N"m if he W"re electe,I? 

-----------~ ·------
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President: At the time I thought that the Senator·was speaking 
rather dangerously. As I h:tve evaluated the construction placed upon 
his remarks, 1 think perhi.ps that he may have ha.d his remarks mis­
construed and overstated, although they were pretty strong and stronger 
than I would have made or did make. But 1 think also that he was the 
victim of unjust criticism, p,1.rticularly by the media and perhaps by the 
Democrats 1 think that he was strong and tough and he felt that before 
he would yield any of our sovereignty and give up our way _of life and have 
us conquered that he would do anything, as nearly anybody else would. 
But I don't think that he really had any intentions of dropping any nuclear 
weapons to v,in South Viet Nam, although that was the implication. I 
v.,as concerned about some of his statetnents. 

Q. The possibility of a Congret.sional resolution was discussed in 1964 

before the Tonkin Gulf. Why was it never introduced? 

Pres.ir1ent: Beca.use we nf~ver were face to face with the reality of 
putting in troops. I advised President Eisenhower on the Formosa and 
Middle E;i.st Reso1utions that he 0·_1ght to get a co1nrnitrnent -- not a 
decla.ration of war -- hut a co:-1unil:tnent of the Congress that if he had 
to go in, to h;tve the Congres!> go in with liirn. And _[ took the position 
from th" first d:iy I was President: until tlv: hst: d,,y ( was President that 
I never wanted to go in and rn,1kt_~ ~t.ny connnitrnentt-. of troops and mt-~n a.nd 
bo.:-lie:·1' without the Congress goin1_~- in with rne. Anrl I told my advisers, 
namdy Mr. Rusk and \1r. IVIcNama.ra, on many occasions in '63 and' 64 
and '65 that I dicln' t want to go in at all, commit troops and make policy 
and h.,ve men killed unless I did so with the lrnowle,lge and with the consent 
of _the Congress. That did not mean that they ought to declare war on 
North Vid-Nam because North Viet-Nam might have a treaty with China 
or Russia that wonld immediately be kicked off by a declaration. But that 
we ought to have, as I reconH1:1ernled to Eisenhower, as leader o! the 
Senate, the other p1.rty, in the Micldle'East and Formosa. And for them 
n6t to cotne back antl rnake a. recon1ff1endation to me tha.t we commit troops 
and that we engage in acts of warfare with North Viet-Nam without the 
knowledge of th,-, Congress and without the permission of the Congress. 
And I askecl them to go and take the two resolutions that we had acted 
upon for Eisenhower and copy them word for word just ,substituting th\! 
na.n1e, and be t:Jnre we h<lve atlequate authority, and use that as an example,. 
and go ,,nd get that throllgh tlw C.o.,11resS<_, which they did. And they had 
hecLrings, ,,ml I told them at the time to he sure the Foreign Affairs 
Committee ancl the Foreign Relations Committee were not the only ones 
corrnulte<I -- that the Armed Services and Appropriations, too, and try to 
ask them to meet jointly. which they did. And the /lo-called Southeast 

l 
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Asia Resolution which Fulbri;;ht mis-n,,med the Tonkin Gulf Resolution, 

and got the Times to call it that, ancl everybody called it the Tonkin Gulf 
when it was really called the S o,,theast Asia. And they put another label 

on it for their o.vn prop-iganda purposes. But when they brought me this 
resolution I asked that they go and have full hearings in both places, full 

discussion in both places and insist on a roll call in both places. And 
insist that they make it abundantly cle;i.r that under this resolution the 
President is being authorized to take whatever action may be necessary 

' atomic bombs, hydrogen bombs, anything else -- to deter aggression. 
And I got that resolution in Aug,1st. And I had the authority in my hip 
pocket from August until really J,,ly before I escalated the war and really 
acted in mass on that resolution. Because I was hoping every day, every 
week, every month that these aggressors, and those supporting them, 
namely Russia and China, would not he h,,11 bent for leather and for 
gobbling up South Viet-Nam - - that they could be deterred, they could 
be talb,d out, they could be ,liscourage,d. But they esc'ft1ated; they didn't 
play it down; they stepped it up all the time, til finally/got to the point 
¥:he re the rn ilitary strategists said yon' v~ ej the r got to run and get out 
and save what you've got, or you've got to get in. 

So, when the firi.ng started, w-:_• re!1ponded, but it was obvious to us 
without a reHolution. thP- Tonkin Culf. it w;-i.s obvivus t:o us we would have 
to -- if v,-e• re going to ha.ve incidt~.~1t~J of thiH kind, we'd better be arn1e<l 
with th;,t pow,,r. That was when yo,1 re,dly ha.ti to face up to it, in August 
1 64. 

Q. Are yo,1 convinced the Tonkin Gulf attacks were as serious as they 
looke,l at the time? Was the response justified? 

President: All the information I had was that they were serious, and 
I felt at the time and I feel now if I were confronted with an identical situa­
tion ton1orrow, I would respond the same ·wa.y,. 

Q. After the fact, it app'ears that your announcement of the retaliatory 
strike,s was made befo,·e the attacks were completed. Didn't McNamara 
and CINCPAC mislead you on this? 

President: I don't think so. I think that the position we took was this: 
the acts of provocation had occurred and WP- were going to respond. But 
it w«:, going to be a limited response and we did not want either Russia 
or Chin;i, p,>rticularly China. to think th«t because planes were going in 
that direction there might be an attack on them, and that it was going to be 

• 
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an all-oJ.t nuclear war of some kin<l. An<l we were very anxious to make 

the announcen1ent of the limitt:'.d n;iture of it, and it J·ust beina a res"8onse 
a l 

to an attack, so the Chinese woul<ln' t be mis-led by it, wouldn't be mis-

guided by it, wouldn't misinterpret it, and wouldn't get in themselves. And 

we held up the announcement for some time, at the request of McNamara, 

until he was snre the planes were on the way. But we wanted to announce 

as soon as they could detect them, as nearly as we co,1ld, the same time 

they could detect them., the nature of the attack, so that it wouldn't be 
mistaken by the Chinese. That's my memory of it. 

Mr. Jorden: Well, I think that thP.re was ... after the fact, some people 
checked back and looked through the exchanges of me,ssages with the ship3 
and so on, and while the plam,s took off, some of them, at least, were 
circling the ship - - not going into target for some reason or other. and 
it lookf!d from these messages th.,t C[NCPAC thought the attack had started 

but it hadn't actually starte<l, and it w;,.s four or five hours later... 

Prf!sident: We were very anxio,1s that the rnoment we had our people 
1n the, ai ,. where the Chinese could know th;-,t they we,re in the air -- their 
ra<l;).r would show it. 

Mr. Jorden: I don't think that's ever heen clearly explained, in public. 

President: Th,ll:1 s it. As I rernernber it --- McNa.rnara is a better 

authority on it -- but f remember I calle,l him a time or two and said: 

can't I go on and make the announcen1ent? I want to be damn sure that 

China is not at war with us, when they don't understand this thing. No, 

we'..ve got to be sure, and first we thought they'd gone and then they weren't 
sure, and CINCPAC was going to inform him, and they told him they'd be 
gone in 30 minutes or 40 minutes, and there was a delay - as there 
invariably is on every attack -- there's always delay -- something comes 
up and you've got to change this or change that. You've got to be sure and 
so forth. A lot of messages went back and forth. But finally McNamara 
said, "Now they· re off.·• ./l.nd you can go and make it. And maybe some 

of them were off. But what we were trying to do was to say to China. really, 
in effect: We' re not going to give you enough word that you can kill these 
men-- the Americans who were making the attack. We're not going to 
endangt:~r their live:-J. We're going to give you enough information thd.t 

you won't en,!.'l.nger the world hy mis-interpreting what we're doing. That 
is n1 v n1 ern ory· of it. 

Q. Why w,;,s there so much pressure to make the anno:.incement so fast? 
1,Vould 12 more hours have made ;~ differenc<'? 

I l 
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President: Well, we think the Chinese would have reacted spon­
taneously, just when our planes took off. They cou'.,J have said, hell, 

here they' re going to make an attack on us and we' re going to respond. 

And they would have been misled. 

Q. The Tonkin Gulf Resolution was very strong. Why do you think 

Fulbright and others backed it? Why did they then try to walk away 

from it? 

President: I don't know. It was very clear. There was no deception. 
Senator Coop,,r, the Senator from Wisconsin, Nelson, and others raised 
questions about whether this involved, whether under this resolution a 
President could start a land war in Asia and could commit troops to it. 
And Fulbright said sure, he could -- he hope,! he wouldn't. Course, we' 
hoped it wouldn't. But he cert,1inly could. He knew what he was voting 
for, and anybody who is cap;;ble of being a Unite,! States Senator and had 
the qu;:i.lifications to be and had the comprehension to be, and no question 
he collld read that resolution a.nd see whrLt it says, a.nd know what he 1 s 
voting for. Now to try to corne ;dong and rtln out on his own comrnitments, 
to say he didn't understand it and didn't know ... y{Hl can1 t read the record 
and do th;it. I\e1,:ause they asked him t.he question: if under this re,;olu-· 

tion the President couldn't cornrnit .forct-'.. J\r~d tv1oi-se took the position 
that yon co11ld. A.nd Gruening to(!,c. the position th,11: you could, and they 
wert:~ very proper, and if I had fe-lt like either GnLt''.ning or Morse, I'd 
have voted just like they did -- against the resoh1tion. And anybody that 
didn't agree with wh::tt we were doing, and what our vie\v was, na1nely 
that we ought to deter aggres,.ion, ought to have voted against the resolu­
tion as lv1orse and Gruening did. l.\ut for a fellow to vote for the resolution, 

a~·d s;,y I'll go in with you, and then start and get up there, and a firecracker 

to break in his face and him cut and run - - that's not a man that excites my 
admiration. And it's hard for me to conceive that men can do it. And then, 
for th..,m to just say tha.t the,y misunderstood is no excuse. Now why they 
walked away from it, I thiril,, is because it was easier to walk away than 

to "ta ml. 

Q. How do yo,1 regard the main Senatori;ll critics of onr Viet-Nam policy 

and the rea,aon:1 for their opposition - - Fulbright, Gore, Pell, Church, 

Aiken, lvlcGo-✓ ern, McCarthy, Morse, Mansfield? 

PreHid~nt: I think Morse b,isically and instinctively and sincerely felt 

that this was a commitment that should not be made, that we should not 

e.:icd.la.te matters out there. \Ve ought to. retrea.t, 'Ne ought to move back, 
and wi, ought to yieId. And I think that same position was felt by Gruening. 
that we had no business out there. As Fulbright and Walter Lippmann 

l t 
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later said, ·•These are not our kind of people." And I think they genuinely 

felt that. I think that McCarthy and McGovern and Church and Pell and 
Fulbright later felt that we just oughtn't to be there and they'd made a 

mistake voting for it, those that did. And they ha.cl hoped that we co·ald 
p:i.ss a resolution, and that was all that was necess;.ny to fight the war. 

But when the resolution didn't suffice, they didn't want to do much more. 

Mr. Jorden: Morse voted for the SEATO Treaty. 

President: Yes, but he had some grave doubts about it, and he felt 
that the United Nations ought to be doing that instead of SEATO. 

Mr. Jorden: He raised a lot of questions about that. 

President: Yes, yes, he did. And I think he was sorry he voted for 
it.- And I think he tried to put a, different inteq,·retation on it than what we 
have. I don't know that we've put the right one. I always thought we have. 
I believe we had. And I believe th;,t Dulles and Eisenhower in proposing 
it said tha.t we ought to do here wh;1t WP- did not do in l.:>urope -- servt; 
notice on J~fitler in advance that aggression would he ,net and would be 
deterred. And Mansfield, as I recall, in the deh;d:e s,id - - I was not 
there in the deb,,te, but I n>Ml it - - th.it the time rr,;1y come when thi.!i 

policy ,.ve' re laying <lown in 1vla.nil~.• narnely tha.t we warned any would-be 
aggrP.!-L'H)r that he'll h:1vP. to 1neet tUi in unison anrl in force, and in unity. 
if he n1oves, th~1.t if Wt-! had done th,-1t at Ch;:unberlin' s 1neeting, we 1night 
have avoided the holocaust. And if we do it in advance we might avoid it. 
But if we are unable to avoid it, then we'll have to stand. That's whrtt 
Mansfield said, and tint's wh,tt I interprekd it, and that's what I thought 
we ·had. But he's never been willing to do that. Ilnt I think they thought 
this tre;ity and this paper would do it, like they thought the resolution would 
do it, and then when it didn1 t do it, they don't want to pay the price. 

O:Wlut convinced you to retaliate against the Pleiku att;ick of February 
1964 with an air strike? 

Pr,c3ident; I felt that if they could come in while ou:r men were 
sleeping in their lnrracks and hit them, that we ought to have a response 
to it. And I think we ought to serve notice that tlwy could not kill Americans 
w.ith irnrnuni.ty, without having to p 01.y ·the p1·.ice. 

Q. Did Mac Bundy'" presence in Saigon and his utrong reaction affect the 
decision? 

I t 
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President: Yes, I'm sure that it affected it. I don't say it influenced 
it, or that it wouldn't have been made without it. But I think that the fact 
that all the circumstances contributed to it. But I think that if a man 

comes up here and starts killing my children that I have custody over, 
that I'm responsible for, I'm going to respond. 

Q. Were you by that time convinced that regular air strikes against 
North Viet-Nam should be undert.1.ken? 

President: No. 

Q. If not, when did you decide? What influenced yonr decision most? 

President: I think that the genera.I fee.ling arnong my advisers was 
that we would lose less lives and we would render greater cost to the 
enemy by air strikes and we wollld deter him more that way at a cheaper 
cost tl-i;,n any other method available to us. And I think that was the basis 
of air strikes. 

Q. Did any of your princip:1.l a.dvi~;ers oppose ho;nhing as a regular pro­
gratn? 

Presid<cnt: Y,,s, I thinlc th;,tJl;dl w,u; pn,l:ty consistent all along in 
minirniz.ing the re.'n1lts that could he ohtaint-!d .frorn bon1bing. And I think 
he generally felt th,1.t we incurred a greate,1• risk 1:hctn we obtained results 
from bombing. I don't think anybody e1"e felt that w,1.y. I never felt 
Goldhe,rg was a strategy adviser at all. I just felt he presented our policy 
at the United Nation,;. But I think Ball genuinely felt that because of 
experiences he had had during the war. He thought that bombing was 
greatly overrated. 

Q. How effective <lid you think bombing wonld be, and what would it 
accomplish'? 

President: I felt that it would rnake them pay a great price, that they 
would be unwilling to pay over a long period of time. And I thought that 
it would show thern our determination to resist a.nd would convince them 
th«t there wa,i nothing to gain by prolonging the war. I didn't ever think 
that it would bring them to their knees am! insure victory. I never thought 
a.t any tin1e and no one ever advised me that it ,vould stop infiltration and 
tha.t bon1bing itself, a.lone, v,ould result in n1i1ita.ry victory .. 

l l 
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Mr. Jorden: Did you think it would encourage them to negotiate? 

President: Hopefully, yes. Yes, I thought it would. I thought that 
if we could seriously affect their POL supplies, and we could make it 
much more difficult for this infiltration to succeed that they'd look at 

their hole card and say, well, what's the use, maybe we ought to try to 
work out some agreement, have an election, let the best man win. 

Q. What is your current estimate of the bombing campaign? 

President: I think some of the people who advocated it, Senator 
Goldwater and others, I think they claimed for it results which were 
never anticip::i.ted and which we re nevP- r rece ive<l. My estimate of it is 
that it was not as effective as its most arch advocates felt it would, and 
not as bad as the people who wanted to stop it all the time tho-.ight it was. 

O. Wonld there have been peace talks in l9t.5-67 if there had been no 
bornbing? 

P r,ssicfont: I don't think so. I think tha.t tint:'" been answered pretty 
good, The re might have been talk,; but I don't think there would have 
been any results, evPn after all. .. weak as they wP.re, and I think they 
really ·were since last Augu.st, pe?bahly Augu:;t 1 67 1 they've been going 
downhill. But: I don't think thtere 'have been any- productive talks and I 

think we 1 vte stopp~d it enough to se., it. And I think it's always been a 
fa)ge alarm that thP.y put in the l1and of their propaganda experts. And 
our folks were naive, and took them and s;,.id stop the bombing. Martin 
Luther King: stop the bombing. ,Vel(, we've stopped it now. We stopped 

. pr·actically all of it in March a.nd we stopped all of it in October. And we 
haven't made any progress in the year since then. And I think the proof 
of the pudding is in the eating. 

0. Why did you stop bombing in Ma.y? What influtence did Bobby I<ennedy 
have on that decision? 

President: I believe that this was the first bombing pause five or six 
<la.yr<. I nev,,r was convinced, Wheeler was not convinced, and originally 
Ru,ik was not convinced -- that the Soviet Ambassador who suggested to us 
that it would be good to stop and thiltwe might get somewhere. That it 
would bring any reRults. But \Vheeler felt that if we stopped it and resumed 
it promptly after we showed that they wouldn't come immediately, that 
there would bt, no great danger to A1ne:r:ican lives and there might be some 

l l 
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chance of their doing it. At least he would defend me from a military 
standpoint. And we would take no re,dly great military gambles if we 

didn't let it to on too long, anJ would not sc1crifice much military posi­
tion if we didn't let it go on too long. And Bobby Kennedy came down 
to my little room and proposed two propositions to me: that I make 
Bill Moyers Secretary of State to succeed Dean Rusk. I asked him if 

he really believed that, and was really serious, and he said yes. 

Mr. Jorden: In 1965? 

President: Yes. And he was very anxious for me to remove Rusk in 
1 63 and 1 64, and his whole life w;.,,s dedicated to removing Rusk, and 
electing himself President. During all thitt period -- this wasn't a new 
thing of his -- I think he seriously considered wheth_er he would let me 
be President, whether he shouhl really take the position the Vice Presi­
dent dicln' t automatically move in. I thocight th;ct WilS on his mind every 
time I s;cw him the first few ditys, after I had a.lreatly taken the oath. I 
think he was seriously calcubting wrnt sto,ps to take. For several days 
he really kept me out of the President's offic,,. I up,.:rated from the 
Executivr:i Office Building because .it wa.:. not n1ctdt! ,1v,1.ila..ble to me. 
It was quitt-! rl problt~rn. But h1-:! recornrnendt~d Bill t\1oyers for Secretary 
of State arnl I just couldn't beli(~ve he wrts serious ;u-.d I wondered if 
therf! wrt.s ~1ornething .wrong with his thinking proce::;ses, and I looked at 
him a.rid a.~-dced him if he wa.s ri:::~a.llY sP-rious. Oh, ytis, he was serious .. 
He went ahe;ul then to tell me nut so much lvloy,:r 1 s 'l'-litlifications, bnt 
all of f1.1t3k' s disqualifications, and what a. terrible State Department, 
how terrible everybody over there was. Ami I said: but these are the 
people Pr·eside,nt Kennecly selected, and he h,Hl put them all in there, and 
President Kennedy hMI confidence in them. Ami I s.,icl I can't understand 
your feeling this way. Well, he said he was going to get rid of all of them. 
And I said, well, anyway, I'm not going to ch;cnge Rusk. Bill Moyers 1s 
here and he can help me, and I like Bill Moyers, but I'm not about to 
remove n.usk. 

Then he proposed the bombing. And I told him we had given a lot of 
consitle r.a.tion to that. I talked to him, and listened to him, and he said 
we could try it for 24 hours, 4B hours, 72 hours -- it wouldn't hurt a 
thing in the world. And I uaid well, I_ think we could, for a very limited 
perior.1. Ami I have it under advicaernent now, and I'm going to talk to 
General Wheeler, and I'll give se1·ious consideration to it. And he did 
influ.,nce it. I was anxious to have his cooperation, his support. And I 
didn't do it just for that. It wa,i one of many voices th,tt contributed to it. 

l l 
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And I ha.ve said that it was really Robby Kennedy's pause. But in my 
own mind I ha.d doubts about what would come from it. But once I felt 

I would not yield any military ground, I would not suffer any great damage, 
I didn't think it would hurt me to stop it for a few hours, which we did. 

Mr. Jorden: But he wasn't the first one who suggested the idea? 

President: No, it was p1·etty general. North Viet-Nam was the first 
one. It's been a North Viet-Nam proposal all along -- stop the bombing, 
stop the bombing, and we'll talk. It is just as much of their propaganda 
and their psychological warfare, stop the bombing, as to move your troops 
home. They've had two things: stop the bombing and get all and completely 
OJt, give it all up to us, yield everything, and then we'll have peace. 

Q. Why did McNamara bter change his mind ;;bout: bombings? Did it 
surprise you? 

President: I don't know. I don't know why McNamara .•. I don't know 
what thoui,ht processes McN;trn;ira lud. I fed th,,t McNamara was very 
able; he's vP.ry genuine, he's very· sincere, he's very loyal, and very much 
on top of his job, and I thought gavt~ tou rnnc:h to it~ I '\Vi.ls real concerned 
about his lw;dth when he went to th,., World ll<«tk. But I thought he was 
surroun,lP-d by a good mciny peoph,. th;d. I did not trust. And I had fears of 
it, bttt I nc,ver hiid ;cny fears o( him. But I hiHl gro:,;,t: questions ;cbout a lot 
of the people he h-t<l in there. I don't want to get into personalities, but 
Warnke is a sample, and Yarmolinsky i8 a s«mple, McNaughton was a 
s;cmple. I thought all of them were pt'etty soft, 

·1-v-rr. Jorden; Dick Stedn1an? Dick Stcdrr1a.n wa.Ll another one., 

Presid<!nt: Yes. And Ev;cn, •• what's the fkl.me ...• not Evinrude, 
but... the computer man? 

Mr. Jorden: Oh, I know who you mean, Mr. President -- Enthoven. 

Pre,iident: Yes, Enthoven. 

Q. Did your e,;timate of the bombing camp,dgn change as it went along? 
In what way? 

Fl 1·es.ident: No change that l'n1 a:ware of. 

Q. On troopi,, was it a mista.ke not to send in large forces in 1961 or 
1962? Might not decisive action earlier have produced a different result? 

I l 
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President: Yes, I think it would hive, and I think it was a mistake. 
And I think it was a mistake to think that we could handle it like we did 
Laos. And I think maybe Laos will turn out to be a mistake, 

Q. Was ocir commitment of forces begun in 1961 done too gradually? 
Was it too gradual after 1965? 

President: No, I believe we furnished them all the men they could 
take as quick as they could take them. My general instruction to 
Westmoreland was: whatever ya., need we'll give you. And I told the 
American pc,ople I thought when I increased the 100, 000 that we were 
going to send 100,000 out and we re sending whatever else was necessary. 

Mr. Jorden: He had a big problem, of course, of developing a 
logistics base before he could absorb too many forces. 

Q. Did we commit too many forces in V-N? Or not enough? If so, 
what was the right level? 

President: I gave rr1y rnf\n wha.t they t-1ai<l they needed, and l'n1 not 
an expert on it. 

Q. '\Vha.t influenced rnogt you·r d~•ci!don to increa!-ie [orces and asrnign 
them to comhat missions in l'Jti5? 

Pre:sident: Because I thought we either had to run out or run in 
that it had reached the desperate point, that we had tried everything 
av,J.ilable to us to get to the pea.ce table, to avoid this, from November 1 63 
to 1 65. And we had not succeeded. And we either had to run in or run out. 

Q. What were the factors that led to your deciding on the long bombing 
pause (December 1')65 - January 1966)? 

President: Dobrynin came in and told us if we could have a 12-day 
p:i.use or not over 20 days a.t the most, that he thought we could ·get talks 
started leading to peace. And I had great doubts, And then finally they 
convinced McNamara. Then they had Dundy out and convinced him, 
Dohrynin did. Bundy first, I think,· and then McNa.ma1·a. And then they 
finally convinced Rusk~ 

Mr. Jorden; They did convince Rusk? 

) 
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President: And then Rusk called me on the phone and told me he
thought it was worth it. He d'cdn' t know that anything could come from
it, but he was willing to go along with them. McNamara and Bundy had
sold him. I still held oat. And then I went to Washington and I went to
see Wheeler, and Wheeler said he didn't think it would get any results
but he'd be willing to try. If I wanted to try, he'd defend me. And I got Max
Taylor, and Max Taylor said the same thing. Their advice was better than
anybody else's -- Wheeler's and Max Taylor's. But I finally decided that
we'd reached a time where I could do it witho·-1t endangering lives, without
adversely affecting our military position. 

(Tape ends here.). 
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